THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANNY HAROLD ROLLING, Appellant,

vs.

Case No. SC01-625

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

On Direct Appeal from a Final Order of the Circuit Court of the Eighth Judicial Circuit in and for Alachua County, Florida, in Case No. 91-3832-CFA, Denying the Appellant's Postconviction Motion to Vacate His Death Sentences.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BAYA HARRISON, III Post Office Box 1219 Monticello, FL 32345-1219 Tel: (850) 997-8469 FAX: (850) 997-8468 Florida Bar Number 099568

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

D.	Jurisdiction	
E.	Statement of the Facts 4-28	
Summary of the Argument		
Argument	(including primary issue and	

Argument (including primary issue and sub-issues presented for appellate review)

A. The trial court erred in not finding that defense counsel rendered constitutionally ineffective assistance within the context of Strickland v. Wash

Certificate of Compliance with	
Font Size and Disk Requirements	82

TABLE OF CITATIONS

Cases

Page(s)

Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure - Capital Postconviction Records Production (Time Tolling) 708 So. 2d 913 (Fla. 1998)
Buenoano v. Dugger, 559 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1990)
Bundy v. State, 455 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 1984)
Chandler v. U.S., 218 F.3d 1305, 2000 W. L. 1010 248 (11th Cir. July 21, 2000)
Coleman v. Kemp, 778 F.2d 1487 (11th Cir. 1983) 64, 65, 70-79
Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993)
In Re. Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850 and 3.851, 708 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 1998)
In Re. Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851, 719 So. 2d 869 (Fla. 1998)
Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717 (1961) 37, 38
Lanier v. State, 709 So. 2d 112 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998)
Lowry v. State, 705 So. 2d 1367

(Fla. 1998)
Martin v. State, 717 So. 2d 462 (Fla. 1998)
Manning v. State, 378 So. 2d 274 (Fla.1979)
Mayola v. Alabama, 623 F.2d 992 (5th Cir. 1980)
Meeks v. Moore, 216 F.3d 951 (11th Cir. 2000)
Miller v. State, 750 So. 2d 137 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000)
Mills v. Singletary, 63 F.3d 999 (11th Cir. 1995)
Murphy v. Florida, 421 U.S. 794 (1975)
Oakley v. State, 677 So. 2d 879 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996)
Provenzano v. Singletary, 148 F.3d 1327 (11th Cir. 1998)
Rideau v. Louisiana, 373 U.S. 723 (1963)
Reynolds v. Chapman, 2001 U.S. App. LEXIS; 14 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C 826 (11th Cir. decided June 15, 2001)

Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333 (1966) 29, 31, 38, 67 State v. Cottell, 733 So. 2d 963 State v. Neil, 457 So. 2d 481 Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 Constitutional Provisions, Statutes and Rules Art. I, ¤ 16, Fla. Const. 29, 35, 37, 39, 73 Amend. VI, U.S. Const. 4, 29, 35, 37 Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.240 6 Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 vii, 33, 36, 64, 77, 81 Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(g) 4 Other Authorities

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Danny Harold Rolling, the defendant in the lower tribunal, will be referred to by name or as "the defendant." Appellee, the State of Florida, will be referred to as "the state."

References to the record on appeal will be by symbols designed to be consistent with the manner in which the Clerk of the Circuit Court prepared the record as well as the references used by the trial court in its Order of March 5, 2001 denying Rolling's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion.

There are a total of eleven volumes in this post-conviction record on appeal. The first six volumes (I-VI) include pleadings, orders, evidence, notices and legal memoranda. Reference to specific pages within each of these volumes will be by volume number followed by a page number appearing in the lower right hand corner of each page. Eg. "(V 626)". The next five volumes (VII-XI) consist of the evidentiary hearing transcripts for the defendant's amended Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion. References to a particular volume and page of the evidentiary hearing transcripts will be by the symbol "EH" followed by a volume and page number which appears in the upper right hand corner of each page. Note the Clerk of the Circuit Court has hand written a volume number on the cover page of all five volumes of the evidentiary hearing transcripts. These hand written volume numbers follow the first six volumes of the postconviction record. Thus for example, the first volume of evidentiary hearing transcript has hand written on the cover page, "Volume VII." The hand written volume number, not the typed "Volume I" which also appears on the cover page of the first volume of the evidentiary hearing transcripts, is utilized in this brief.

Documents introduced in evidence during the postconviction hearing are collected in two boxes; one box of defense exhibits and one box of the state's exhibits.

The record in Rolling's original direct appeal to this Court in Rolling v. State, 695 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 1997), is also a part of the total record in this postconviction proceeding. References to that record will be the same as utilized in the original appeal. Thus, references to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R." followed by a page number. References to a particular page of the penalty phase trial transcripts will be by the letter "T." followed by a page number. References to the symbol "SR" followed by a page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

A. Nature of the Case

This is a direct appeal of the lower tribunal's final order rendered by the Honorable Stan R. Morris, Circuit Judge, on March 5, 2001 (V 625-824), denying the defendant's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion to vacate the five death sentences imposed against him.

B. Course of the Proceedings

On November 15, 1991, an Alachua County grand jury indicted the defendant on five counts (I-V) of first degree murder, three counts (VI-XIII) of sexual battery and three counts (IX-XI) of armed burglary of a dwelling with a battery. (V 626) The offenses occurred sometime between August 24-30, 1990, in Gainesville. See Rolling v. State, 695 So. 2d at 278, 279; V 626.

Former State Attorney Rod Smith led the prosecution team. (V 792) Public Defender Richard Parker and Assistant Public Defenders Johnny Kearns, Barbara Blount-Powell and John Fisher made up the defense team. (V 631; EH III 365) On June 9, 1992, the defendant pled not guilty to all counts of the indictment. (V 626; R. 95) On February 15,

1994, Rolling changed his pleas to guilty as charged. (V 626; R. 2237-2240, 2243) The trial court adjudicated him guilty on that date. (V 626; SR 1481-1506)

On February 16, 1994, jury selection commenced for the penalty phase of the trial. (V 626; T. 1) On February 25,

1994, during jury selection, Rolling's counsel filed a motion for change of venue. (V 626; R. 2388) After a brief non-evidentiary hearing, the trial court denied the motion ore tenus. (V 626, 627; T. 26-42)

After the jury was selected, the evidentiary portion of the penalty phase reconvened on March 7, 1994, per the provisions of Section 921.141, Florida Statutes. (V 627) On or about March 24, 1994, the jury unanimously recommended that death sentences as to the first degree murder counts (I-V) should be imposed. (V 627; R. 2905-2908; T. 5163-5165) The trial court accepted the jury's advisory recommendation and, on April 20, 1994, sentenced Rolling to death on each of the murder counts. (V 627; T. 7325) The trial court, on the same date, sentenced the defendant to life in prison on each of the remaining counts. (V 617)

After the timely filing of a notice of appeal on April 29, 1994 (R. 3236), there was a direct appeal of the judgments and sentences to this Court. The judgments and

sentences were affirmed on March 20, 1997. Rolling v. State, 695 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 1997). Rehearing was denied on June 12, 1997. (V 627) The mandate was issued on July 14, 1997. The defendant then filed a timely petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court, but that petition was denied on November 17, 1997. Rolling v. Florida, 522 U.S. 984 (1997).

In Supreme Court of Florida Case Nos. 82,322, 23 FLW S363 (6/25/98), and 92,026, 23 FLW S363 (6/25/98), respectively, this Court tolled the time for Rolling and other death sentenced prisoners to seek postconviction relief until October 1, 1999. (V 627)

On November 13, 1998, the defendant filed a motion to vacate the judgments and sentences with an appendix per the provisions of Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850 and 3.851. (I 70-130) On April 16, 1999, the defendant filed a complete, amended 3.850 motion abandoning all but two of the claims (I and II) asserted in the original motion including the contention that the judgments (as opposed to the sentences) imposed against him should be vacated. On May 18, 1999, the state filed a response to the amended postconviction motion. (III 419-461)

After a Huff hearing held on December 1, 1999 (XI 541-603), the trial court determined the defendant was entitled to an evidentiary hearing. (V 626) A three-day evidentiary hearing commenced on July 11, 2000 in Gainesville with Judge Morris presiding. (EH VII 1) Both sides presented witness testimony and introduced documentary evidence during the hearing. Counsel for the state and the defendant thereafter submitted written closing arguments. (IV 474-624)

C. Disposition in the Lower Tribunal

On March 5, 2001, Judge Morris rendered a 38 page order denying Rolling's 3.850 motion attaching a lengthy appendix. (V 625-824) On March 6, 2001, the defendant filed a timely notice of appeal of the final order to this Court. (VI 857-859)

D. Jurisdiction

This Court has jurisdiction to review the lower court's final order denying Rolling's 3.850 motion. See Art. V \cong 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(g).

E. Statement of the Facts

The issue on appeal is venue Rolling's claim that his defense team mishandled venue. The recitation of the evidence submitted in the lower tribunal as set out below is designed to frame that issue.

Assistant Federal Public Defender Thomas Miller represented Rolling regarding a bank robbery he committed in Gainesville shortly before the homicides. (EH VII 8)

On November 5, 1991, United States District Court Judge Maurice Paul, sua sponte, transferred the venue of the bank robbery trial to Tallahassee. (defense exhibit 1) Even though Mr. Kearns attended much of the bank robbery trial in Tallahassee, defense counsel failed to bring the order to the attention of Judge Morris in support of Rolling's belated venue change motion. (EH VII 27, 28) Miller noted that the matter of venue was raised during conversations with Rolling's defense counsel. (EH VII 31) Miller also noted he would have moved for a venue change had Judge Paul not entered his sua sponte order moving the case to Tallahassee. He added that, if the trial court in the murder case granted a venue change prior to Judge Paul's order, he would have used that order to support his effort to move the federal bank robbery case from Gainesville. (EH VII 19) Miller believed a venue change was necessary due to the pretrial publicity. (EH VII 17, 18)

Rolling testified that Parker tried to "convince" him to keep the case in Gainesville which Parker advised was "a liberal town, and that [Rolling] had a good chance of ... having an unbiased trial." (EH VII 35, 49) His counsel added that the people in the community were "typically well-educated." (EH VII 43) Rolling noted that he felt uncomfortable about having the trial in Gainesville since the "... people of Gainesville had been traumatized." (EH VII 36, 44) The defendant did not recall Parker discussing the negative aspects of keeping the case in Alachua County. (EH VII 37) Rolling said that he did not take issue with his counsel since he "had total trust and faith in [his] lawyers." (EH VII 38) Rolling stated "I was never comfortable with having this trial in Gainesville. Would you be?" (EH VII 46)

Second Judicial Circuit Assistant Public Defender Dave Davis and other lawyers in his office represented Rolling in this Court on direct appeal. (EH VII 53) In his 22 years of practicing criminal law, Davis handled approximately 80 capital cases. (EH VII 52) Davis stated that the venue issue was the first one raised in Rolling's initial brief. He noted that Parker filed a motion for a change of venue (defendant's exhibit 6) about six to ten days into the voir dire. (EH VII 60) He explained that Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.240 requires the movant to file the motion ten days before the commencement of trial. (EH VII 60) He emphasized that "any lawyer who expects to prevail on this type of motion has got to present more than the two affidavits that the rule requires." (EH VII 63) Of the three affidavits attached to Mr. Parker's motion, Dr. Raymond Buchanan's was more detailed, but even it contained only a brief statement as to his reasons for a venue change. (EH VII 64) As to the other affidavits, Davis stated, "well, Buchanan's was the most detailed of the three, which is not really saying very much." (EH VII 65)

Davis affirmed that he has handled other capital appeals involving a venue issue. He felt that the motion filed in this case as written and argued had little hope of being granted. (EH VII 65) He pointed out that, at the hearing on the motion for venue change, no live testimony or surveys were offered to support the motion. (EH VII 65) He disagreed that Mr. Parker presented any significant evidence of pervasive media coverage, stating:

[Parker] introduced those articles. Whether he showed that, he introduced them, but there's no discussion made about those articles.

(EH VII 91) As to the documentation presented in support of the motion, Davis said that he found some newspaper articles and transcripts of television news stories in the file, but it was not clear to him whether they were presented at the hearing. (EH VII 65) Davis stated that it appeared that Parker submitted a few newspaper articles and a transcript from television station "TV 20" during the hearing, and that the trial judge took judicial notice of an exhibit which was filed earlier containing more newspaper articles. (EH VII 67) Davis did not believe that Parker made any statement that he would supplement the record at a later date. (EH VII 67) He acknowledged that Parker submitted a supplement to his motion for change of venue "at the end of voir dire" (EH VII 67, 83) but noted "[b]y that time, I think they had already basically gotten a jury." (EH VII 83)

Davis added that, in trying to convince a trial court that a venue change is necessary, there are two types of prejudice to be considered. Presumed prejudice is based on the nature and extent of adverse pretrial publicity while actual prejudice is shown when the venire person, in answering questions about his or her ability to be objective, expresses an actual bias against the defendant or the state. (EH VII 69-70) Davis affirmed that there was an inordinate amount of adverse pretrial publicity generated against Rolling prior to trial, stating:

[T]his case is unique among venue cases anywhere

in the United States, in that there was incredible, incredible amounts of pretrial publicity in this

case, starting really from August 1990, when the

murders happened, almost continually up through the trial.

(EH VII 70) Davis testified that he documented the number of articles and the amount of space that the newspapers gave to this case, and although it tapered off somewhat, "it never really went away" and that "starting about two months before trial, it then picked up, then was just a total explosion of pretrial publicity immediately before the trial." (EH VII 70, 71) He clarified the quantity and extent of the exposure:

The Gainesville Sun gave a lot of press to the Tampa robberies--the robberies the robbery trials. They gave press to the Tallahassee robberies and those things, and

during this whole three-year period, they also went back and just repeatedly linked Rolling to the Shreveport murders, just a whole -- I mean they had attempted murder of his father. The Ocala robbery they talked about repeatedly; Gainesville several times; Tampa, steals a car, more robberies. He was linked to a murder in Lakeland. The Shreveport triple murder was repeated--a particularly gruesome murder of three people, they repeated that article 27

times, by my count, of the articles that I had. There was also robberies in Georgia and Alabama they linked him to; they linked him to just about everything they could find on him, they being the press.

(EH VIII 119) Drawing on his extensive experience in the field, Davis said of the adverse nature of the pretrial publicity:

... this is just unheard of in the annals of legal history, as far as I can tell, of any case that has generated -- well, perhaps except O. J. Simpson, maybe Menedez brothers -- that has generated as much pretrial publicity that was uniformly negative to Mr. Rolling.

(EH VII 71, emphasis added) According to Davis, during the argument for venue change, Parker not only made few references to the extent of the pretrial publicity, but mentioned just one newspaper article. (EH VII 71) He stated that Parker tried to show actual prejudice during the venue change hearing when it would have been more relevant to argue presumed prejudice due to the unusual circumstances of the case. (EH VII 71, 72) Davis alluded to Mr. Parker's apparent embarrassment in asking for a venue change. (EH VII 72) He explained that Parker and Kearns had been practicing law in that community for 25 years, but that:

[n]ow he comes up with a situation where this community that has traditionally, at least, given him a fair hearing in the cases he's tried and now turn radically against him, I mean, in the sense that they were, the animosity coming out of voir dire was palpable towards Mr. Rolling. Nobody that I saw when I read the transcript in the voir dire expressed any sympathy for Mr. Rolling. It was, it was shocking.

(EH VII 73) When asked if Alachua County was the best place for Mr. Rolling to be tried, Davis said:

[W]ell, no, obviously not. I mean, based on the pretrial publicity that I've read, and the voir dire, the extensive voir dire and pretrial publicity, it was abundantly obvious that Gainesville was extraordinarily traumatized by

what happened August of 1990.

(EH 118) Davis conceded that it would have been unpopular, due to the consequent additional delay and expense, "but still it would be the right thing to do, that is,

changing venue." (EH VII 73)

Davis stated that to prove presumed prejudice one should gather as much documentation of pretrial publicity as possible and present it to the court in an organized fashion to demonstrate community hostility toward the defendant. (EH VII 78)

Davis acknowledged that appellate counsel is normally limited to making legal arguments based upon the record as it existed in the lower court. (EH VII 80) In the course of his representation of Rolling on appeal, however, Davis was forced to take the unusual step of supplementing the record regarding the venue issue and presumed prejudice. (EH VII 78) He filed a motion to take judicial notice of a trial court order on decorum and the recommended procedure for handling well publicized cases. (EH VII 78) There were many newspaper articles from an 18-month period which Mr. Parker had not submitted. Davis gathered some of them and moved to have them made a part of the record. (EH VII 78) He noted that most of them (about 95%) came from The Gainesville Sun. (EH VII 90) He attempted to get into the record certain research articles prepared by experts from Shands Teaching Hospital and the University of Florida regarding the existence of post-traumatic stress among the citizens of the Alachua County community as a result of the homicides. (EH VII 79) This Court granted the first two motions but denied the third. (EH VII 81) Davis explained that he felt compelled to supplement the record because:

[It] seemed like everybody knew there had been

a lot of press here, and that was kind of like a given, one of those things everybody understood, but it wasn't; but as an appellant attorney I

wanted something in writing that basically said what everybody else basically took for granted.

(EH VII 83)

Davis conceded that from a defense standpoint Alachua County is normally considered a good place for trial, as the Eighth Circuit has a relatively low number of death sentences pronounced. (EH VII 93) With reference to his statement that he sensed "palpable animosity" on the part of the Alachua County venire towards Mr. Rolling, Davis was asked on cross examination:

Have you ever reviewed a case in which at jury selection, the defendant comes in having admitted to and been found guilty of five murders, three sexual batteries, and three armed burglaries, that the ... venire, is informed of, have you ever had that happen before?

(EH VII 96) He answered that he had not, stating "like I say, this was a most unique case." (EH VII 96) When asked "of the 80 cases you've had, the facts alone in this

[Rolling] case would be among the worst for the defense counsel?" He acknowledged, "Yes, sir, clearly, clearly a horrible, horrible crime." (EH VII 97) He was then asked if under these circumstances it would be unexpected to find palpable animosity anywhere. He answered:

This is the first case, and only case I've ever seen where the animosity--I mean, when I say "palpable," the words escape me to describe the impression I got, not only from voir dire, but

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