IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANNY HAROLD ROLLING,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC01-625

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ALACHUA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 Phone: (850) 414-3300 Fax: (850) 487-0997

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The record reflects that the first time a change of venue was sought occurred on February 28, 1994, six days into the voir

dire for the penalty phase of Rolling's sentencing proceeding. Defense counsel informed the court that he sought to introduce newspaper accounts and information disseminated since the plea of guilty on February 15, 1994, into the record and argued that it was necessary to move the sentencing hearing based on defense counsel's "experience during the preliminary jury selection round."

As this process continued, I have an increasing sense of unease that was best explained to me by Professor Buchanan as resulting from what seemed to me to be an irreconcilable conflict between jurors comments concerning what they knew about the case, as well as how others felt, and their ability to disregard community sentiment in favor of Mr. Rolling's electrocution . . .

(TR 7274).

The State countered that the trial court had engaged in a very organized and concerted effort to secure persons for a jury venire.³

I have that we've selected a hundred and seventeen people to the final pool

That the day that we made that selection, which would be Wednesday of last week, when we arrived at a hundred and seventeen, the defense had the opportunity that afternoon we had additional panelists that we could have taken to the box and examined further; the defense stated at that time, in response to the court's inquiry that they believed

³ The State argued:

that we had a sufficient number of people who had - from whom we could select a final jury to hear this penalty phase.

literally, Your Honor, another We have couple of hundred of people that were scheduled to come in who have never been called before this Court and have never given their feelings about this case because we have reached a point where we had a hundred and seventeen people that were identified as plainly being the persons who said: I can set aside what I've read, and I've heard, what I've been told, what's been suggested to me at work, and decide this case solely on the evidence in the Court and the instruction of the Court. You ask that question, I ask that question, Mr. Kerns and Mr. Parker asked that question; and we asked it in a wider array of fashions.

We were able to - we have seventy-eight people, I think, that were dismissed from the pool.

Of course, Your Honor seventeen were dismissed because they plainly stated that they could not sit on the jury because they had made up their mind that the only penalty they could administer in this case would be life sentence. That is approximately twenty three, twenty three plus percent, Your Honor.

In any instance, I submit to the Court, to some frustration on the State's part, as the Court probably knows, every time there was a close call on the issue of cause, I believe the record would support, would say: I have some reasonable doubt. Even though there rehabilitation of that was prospective juror, I have some reasonable doubt by the manner in which they responded, equivocations that I heard in their voice or The Court, in denying Rolling's motion for change of venue (TR 7292-7310), stated that it had reviewed a plethora of case authority and detailed the jury selection process undertaken to ensure that careful scrutiny was employed as to each potential venireman that ultimately made up 117 persons constituting the final jury selection panel.⁴

> I saw in their mannerisms; and this Court excused them, still leaving us with a hundred and seventeen people, for which there was very little question.

(TR 7282-7284).

⁴ The court observed that (a) the defense's challenges for cause were granted whenever the trial court had a reasonable doubt as to the ability of a juror to sit fairly and impartially in this case; (b) since this case was not dealing with the quilt phase of Rolling's trial, but rather the penalty phase, "I find it interesting that, in many instances the panels, which were dealt with separately per day, often suggested back to the defense upon inquiry that such things as the defendant's background, his childhood experiences, any mental stabilities of infirmities that he may have, could be and would be considered by them in determining whether they were established; and, secondarily, that weight should be put upon them.", and (c) ". . the Court has to consider on the issue of pretrial publicity, at least in a guilt phase consideration, has always been not only that there is extensive publicity, but that it is of a hostile nature, using the terms, I believe, that probably were established in <u>Shepard v. Maxwell</u>, that it is of a hostile nature and so inflamed the community that even those who sat on the jury and would espouse that they could be fair, in essence, could not because they could not place their will, as it were, in contravention to the general inflamed will of the community. I do not sense that in Gainesville, Florida, at this moment. And I certainly don't sense that in the statements of the jurors." (TR 7305-7308); (d) the court found that based on some of the newspaper articles concerning possible mitigation as to

Considering the principles as we have evolved from guilt phase litigation in trying to extrapolate from those principles a set of principles we apply to a strictly penalty phase situation, for those reasons at this time and from my own observations of the responses of the hundred and seventeen people who have returned, I deny the motion for change of venue. . .

(TR 7309), and (TR 3258-3266).

This Court, in <u>Rolling v. State</u>, 695 So.2d 278 (Fla. 1997), affirmed Rolling's appeal based on the claims presented.⁵ In denying Rolling's complaint that a change of venue should have been granted, the court observed:

> Rolling and his defense counsel made a deliberate and strategic choice not to file a motion for change of venue at any time during the three years Rolling awaited trial for these offenses because they believed he could be fairly tried by an impartial jury in Gainesville. Instead, contrary to the dictates of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.240(c), which requires that a change of venue motion be filed no less than 10 days before trial, Rolling waited until

Rolling's "mental disabilities", that he "did not find pervasive hostile publicity to Mr. Rolling on this issue of the implementation of the death penalty or the implementation of a life sentence." (TR 7309).

⁵ 1) pretrial publicity did not require a change of venue; 2) statements to fellow inmates and to investigators were not the result of Sixth Amendment violations; 3) the inventory search of a tote bag found at the campsite was proper; 4) Rolling waived any claim of error in joinder of offenses for penalty phase; 5) the instruction of heinous, atrocious and cruel was proper, and 6) the death penalty for five capital murders was not disproportionate.

his sixth day of jury selection to request a change of venue for the first time, when defense counsel admitted to the Court: 'I have to swallow my pride and admit that I was incorrect in my original opinion that this case could be fairly tried here.' The trial court subsequently denied the motion after a hearing.

Rolling now argues on appeal that the trial court erred in denying his motion for change of venue because the record shows that the pretrial publicity in this case during the three and a half years between the time the murder occurred in August 1990 and Rolling's quilty plea in February 1994 was so pervasive and prejudicial that this Court must presume as a matter of law that the venire, as well as the actual members of the jury, were biased against him. Rolling points also to the response of certain prospective and actual jurors during their voir dire as further evidence that the entire Gainesville and Alachua County community had been victimized by Rolling's crimes and harbored an inherent prejudice and animosity against him.

To the contrary, the State, while candidly acknowledging that this case generated massive pretrial publicity, maintains that the three and a half years between the crimes and the trial served to distance the community from most of the media coverage surrounding Rolling's case, and, even assuming otherwise, the publicity was not prejudicial presumptively because it consisted of `straight stories', news relating 'cold, hard facts.' Moreover, the State contends that 'beyond a doubt the trial court undertook extraordinary measures to ensure jurors who sat were fair and impartial,' and 'all jurors who served affirmatively and unequivocally stated that they could put aside any prior knowledge and decide the case based solely on the evidence

presented at trial.' Upon thorough review of the record in this case, we agree with the State.

695 So.2d at $283-284.^{6}$

In relying on <u>McCaskill v. State</u>, 344 So.2d 1276 (Fla. 1977), the Court reaffirmed the test for determining whether a change of venue was required and further noted: "On appeal, . .

. the appellate court has 'the duty to make an independent evaluation of the circumstances,'" citing to the standard set forth in <u>Murphy v. Florida</u>, 421 U.S. 794 (1975), that the twopronged analysis required evaluating: "(1) the extent and nature of any pretrial publicity; and (2) the difficulty encountered in actually selecting a jury." 695 So.2d at 285.

Following a detailed recital of the law, as well as the circumstances unique to Rolling's case, the court held:

As to the first prong of our analysis, it is undisputed that the brutal slaying of five

". . . We agree that Rolling's deliberate strategy choice to proceed to trial in Gainesville despite the publicity indicates he did not believe it to be prejudicial at that time. We find, however, that Rolling's motion filed after the first phase of voir dire preserved his claim for review on appeal. (Cites omitted).

⁶ To the extent Rolling argues his counsel rendered ineffectiveness based on the timely filing of a motion for change of venue, this Court rejected the State's arguments that the claim was procedurally barred from appellate review. <u>See</u> 695 So.2d at 20, n.4, wherein the court held, in material part:

young students deeply affected the college community of Gainesville, Florida, and generated overwhelming local and national media attention. While the amount of media coverage in this case makes it unique, the publicity it receives extent of was certainly not surprising or unwarranted given the circumstances of this case. Indeed, in light of the fact that Rolling chose not to request a change of venue pretrial, it appears that even he was not concerned or otherwise disturbed by the extent or nature of the coverage at any time during the three years he awaited trial.

Likewise, the trial court's order denying Rolling's request for a change of venue reflects a candid and legally grounded review of the media attention this case received. Because we find the trial court's evaluation of media coverage in this case to be consistent with our own view of the record, we reject Rolling's claim that the pretrial publicity presumptively prejudiced the entire Alachua County community against him.

We also find unpersuasive Rolling's related assertion that the responses of both prospective and actual jurors during voir dire further demonstrated a real, communitywide prejudice and animosity towards him. Not surprisingly, of course, every member of the venire had some extrinsic knowledge of the facts and circumstances surrounding this Also as expected, the responses of case. certain prospective jurors showed that their knowledge of the case prevented them from sitting impartially the on jury. Nevertheless, the animus towards Rolling expressed by these individuals reflected nothing more than their own personal beliefs Contrary to or opinions. Rolling's assertions, we find no reason to believe that certain prospective jurors who voiced a

bias against Rolling - none of whom sat on Rolling's jury - somehow spoke for the entire Alachua County community.

We also must reject Rolling's claim that the responses of actual jurors demonstrated a community-wide bias against him because we find it to be completely contrary to the evidence in the record. Rolling never challenged for cause any member of his actual jury based on bias or any other grounds; and the trial court found credible the assurances of every member of Rolling's jury that they could lay aside their extrinsic knowledge of the case and recommend a penalty based upon the evidence presented in court.

As to the second prong of our analysis, we must determine whether any difficulty encountered in selecting a jury in this case reflected a pervasive community bias against Rolling which so infected the jury selection process that it was impossible to seat an impartial jury in Alachua County. Jury selection in this case was no small task. In fact, the process spanned a three week Nevertheless, we do not believe period. that sheer length of this selection process indicates that impartial jurors could not be Rather, the amount of time it took found. to select a jury was largely attributable to the trial court's extensive and deliberate efforts to ensure that the jurors selected were, without a doubt, impartial and unbiased.

After meticulously culling the initial pool down to those venire members who were not obviously biased or otherwise ineligible to serve, the trial court allowed the parties wide latitude in questioning prospective jurors so that open animosity, as well as more subtle, unconscious prejudices could be detected. When the responses of prospective

jurors raised even the slightest concern that they could perhaps not sit impartially, Rolling's court liberally granted the challenges for cause - resolving even questionable cases in favor of the defendant. In addition the court gave Rolling six additional peremptory challenges as a further safeguard to ensuring jury impartiality.⁵

⁵ Rolling argues extensively that the trial court's award of additional peremptory challenges was insufficient in this case, because the court refused Rolling's request for a seventh one to peremptorily strike Mrs. Kerrick, who sat as a member of the jury. Rolling never challenged Mrs. Kerrick for cause at any time during the voir dire or otherwise stated for the record why he wished to strike Mrs. Kerrick. As with the other members of the jury, the court found credible Mrs. Kerrick's assurances that she could put aside her extrinsic knowledge of the case and recommend a sentence based on the trial court's instruction and the evidence presented in court. Thus, we reject Rolling's argument that he was prejudiced by the trial court's failure to award him an additional peremptory challenge.

<u>Rolling v. State</u>, 695 So.2d at 287-288, 297 (emphasis added).

In concluding that Rolling was entitled to no relief, the

court held:

Once again, critical to the issue here is that the trial court found credible the assurances of all the members of Rolling's jury that they could lay aside their extrinsic knowledge of the case and recommend a penalty based only upon the evidence presented in court; and Rolling never challenged for cause any member of his actual jury based on bias or any other grounds. Rather than revealing a pervasive

community bias against him as Rolling suggests, the intricate jury selection process employed in this case and the responses of actual jurors during questioning shows that it was possible to seat an impartial jury in Alachua County. In this regard, we must commend the trial court for employing a jury selection process ample safeguards. with Consequently, because we find that the trial court's system was an effective one which produced an impartial jury, we affirm the trial court's denial of Rolling's motion for change of venue. Neither the pretrial publicity in this case nor the lengthy jury selection process evidenced a community bias so pervasive as to make it impossible, under any circumstances to seat an impartial jury in Gainesville.

695 So.2d at 288.

On or about April 5, 1999, Rolling filed his amended postconviction motion to vacate and set aside death sentences rendered April 20, 1994.⁷ (PCR III pgs. 286-348).⁸ Rolling raised two claims: (1) "trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel regarding the failure to properly seek and obtain a change of venue, and (2) trial counsel rendered

⁷ Rolling originally filed his motion for postconviction relief on November 13, 1998, asserting thirty-one (31) claims upon which he sought relief. The record reflects, and Rolling acknowledges in his amended motion for postconviction relief, page 5, paragraph 9D, that "he has abandoned all but two [Claims I and II] of the claims asserted in the motion including the assertion that the judgments against him should be set aside. He seeks postconviction relief regarding the death sentences only."

⁸ Hereinafter "PCR" means postconviction record.

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